In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

REGINALD WYATT,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S189786

SUFREME COURT FILED

MAY 18 2011

Frederick K. Onirich Clark

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A119501 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. C0147107 The Honorable Jon Rolefson, Judge

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE

Did the trial court prejudicially err by failing to instruct the jury on the court's own motion regarding simple assault (Pen. Code, § 240) as a lesser included offense of assault on a child by means likely to produce great bodily injury, resulting in death (Pen. Code, § 273ab, subd. (a))?

INTRODUCTION

Fourteen-month-old Reginald Wyatt Jr. (hereafter Reginald) died from massive blunt trauma injuries to his chest and abdomen suffered while he was in the care of appellant, his father. Appellant told the police that he hit Reginald multiple times in the chest, head, and back in order to "toughen him up." Appellant was arrested for murder. A jury convicted appellant of involuntary manslaughter and assault on a child by means likely to produce great bodily injury, resulting in death, also known as child abuse homicide.

In an unpublished opinion filed on January 31, 2008, the First Appellate District, Division Two, reversed appellant's conviction for child abuse homicide, having "concluded the evidence was insufficient to prove the requisite mens rea for child abuse homicide, because it failed to show defendant had 'actual knowledge' he was 'wrestling far too hard with his young son." (People v. Wyatt (2010) 48 Cal.4th 776, 779 (Wyatt).)

On May 14, 2008, this Court granted respondent's petition for review. In an opinion filed on May 10, 2010, this Court concluded that "substantial evidence established that defendant knew he was striking his young son with his fist, forearm, knee, and elbow, and that he used an amount of force a reasonable person would realize was likely to result in great bodily injury." (*Wyatt, supra*, at p. 779.) Holding that the evidence supported the jury's verdict of child abuse homicide under section 273ab, this Court

reversed the judgment of the Court of Appeal and remanded for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. (*Id.* at p. 786.)

On remand, in another unpublished decision, the Court of Appeal again reversed the conviction of child abuse homicide. The court found prejudicial error in the trial court's failure to instruct sua sponte on simple assault as a lesser included offense of child abuse homicide. On March 23, 2011, this Court granted respondent's petition for review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant lived with his girlfriend, Tiffany Blake, and their infant daughter, Valerie, in an apartment in Oakland. (3 RT 453, 460.) Appellant began taking Reginald, who was his child from another relationship, for overnight visits after Reginald's first birthday. (1 RT 152.) Appellant, who had initially denied paternity, saw Reginald only sporadically during the child's first year. (1 RT 140, 148-151.) But at the time of Reginald's death, appellant and Ms. Blake were seeking custody of him from the child's mother. (Exh. 36 at 8.)

On Saturday, May 17, 2003, appellant arranged to take Reginald for the weekend. (1 RT 157-158.) Reginald was then 14 months old. (1 RT 127-128.) The next morning, Ms. Blake went to work, leaving appellant in charge of Reginald and Valerie. (3 RT 468.) Around 10:45 a.m., appellant had a neighbor call 911 because Reginald was not breathing. (2 RT 266-267.) Appellant told officers at the scene that he played with Reginald, gave him a cup of milk, put him down to rest, and later discovered Reginald was not breathing and had fluid coming from his nose. (4 RT 591.) Reginald was taken to the hospital and pronounced dead. (4 RT 701, 704.)

An autopsy showed that Reginald, 31 inches tall and 26 pounds, died of blunt trauma to the chest and abdomen. (2 RT 371, 373.) He bled from the heart and left lung; he had four lacerations to his liver which caused internal bleeding. (2 RT 379-380, 385-386.) He had bleeding in the tissue

behind the abdominal cavity and in the mesentery of the small and large intestines. (2 RT 390-391.) Reginald had acute fractures of the back fifth and sixth ribs on both the left and right sides. (2 RT 392, 395.) He had mild cerebral swelling. (2 RT 394.) His injuries were "basically at the end of the bell curve" and are seen only in "the most serious events" such as "car crashes, individuals who are hit by motor vehicles, things of that nature." (3 RT 498.) The force that caused Reginald's four broken ribs would have been "quite violent, quite out of the ordinary." (3 RT 505.)

On May 19, 2003, appellant learned of the autopsy results while he was visiting at the home of Charrikka Harris, Reginald's mother, when she received a phone call from the coroner's office. (1 RT 174, 4 RT 613.) The caller said, "They were en route to pick up" appellant. (1 RT 177.)

Appellant went to the police department, accompanied by his brother, Oakland Police Officer Anthony Caldwell. (4 RT 645, 647, 654.) In a taperecorded statement, appellant told police investigators that on the morning in question, he wrestled and played with Reginald. (2 CT 239, 240-241, 251.) Appellant karate "chopped" Reginald on his back. (2 CT 241.) Appellant held Reginald up and pressed Reginald's stomach to appellant's head, and then flipped him a distance of about four feet onto the bed. (2 CT 242-243.) At one point, appellant accidentally fell on top of Reginald on the bed while attempting a wrestling move "like comin' off the top rope" (2 CT 241.) Appellant jumped on the bed "to make the whole bed rock" but Reginald rolled unexpectedly and appellant's hip landed with maybe all of his weight on Reginald's stomach. (2 CT 241, 243-244.) Before leaving for work, Ms. Blake warned appellant that he was playing too rough with Reginald and could hurt him. (2 CT 241, 244.)

After Ms. Blake left, appellant continued to wrestle Reginald for another 20 to 30 minutes. (2 CT 245-247, 252.) Appellant body slammed Reginald four times, hit him in the chest with his fist 10 or 11 times, hit him

in his back, and did an "atomic elbow" to Reginald's head. (2 CT 247-248.) Appellant hit Reginald in his upper chest with his forearm about three times. (2 CT 248.) Appellant may have suspended the child in midair by holding him by his neck. (2 CT 248-249; 4 RT 711.) Appellant grabbed Reginald between appellant's legs and squeezed. (2 CT 249.) Appellant's knee went down on Reginald's back twice, a maneuver appellant called "the knee drop." (2 CT 249-250.) Appellant said "the favorite move" was "the supplex" where appellant grabbed Reginald and flipped him onto the bed. (2 CT 250-251.)

Appellant told the officers that he did not disclose this information earlier because he did not make a connection between what he did to Reginald and Reginald's death. (2 CT 259-260.) Appellant wanted Reginald to be more active and was trying to "toughen him up." (2 CT 267.) Appellant explained, "All I was tryin' to . . . just kinda toughen him up. Because this . . . it's hard out here. Y'all know how many people get killed out here, too." (2 CT 35.) Appellant recounted a story about "some kids out there messin' with some other little kids . . . slappin' one little kid upside the head" and taunting him, "'Oh, you soft. You pussy! You soft!"" (2 CT 267.) Appellant believed that one cannot be "soft" to grow up in Oakland. (2 CT 267.) Appellant "just had a one-track mind" when he was "stuck on toughening him up, playin' with Reggie, beatin' up Reggie" (2 CT 272.) Appellant said, "But then . . . it got . . . came to a point where it got more serious than that, and I didn't notice and I wasn't thinkin' . . . that I can hurt him. I wasn't thinkin'." (2 CT 272.) Appellant admitted, "I was hittin' him pretty hard." (2 CT 273.)

At trial, the jury heard appellant's two tape-recorded interviews with investigating officers in which he made these incriminating statements. (4 RT 694, 735.)

Appellant testified in his own defense. He admitted prior convictions of battery on a police officer, possession of a weapon, and possession with intent to distribute cocaine. (5 RT 1009-1011.) He denied hitting Reginald even once and said he used only "make-believe wrestling moves" on Reginald. (5 RT 1043, 1045, 1048, 1114.) Appellant would "throw him on the bed" and Reginald would laugh. (5 RT 1037.) Appellant would jump on the bed to make it shake. (5 RT 1038.) At one point, an accident occurred. (5 RT 1038.) Appellant was jumping on the bed to make it shake but as he was coming down, Reginald turned and appellant's hip landed on Reginald's back. (5 RT 1039-1041.) Reginald seemed normal after the accident. (5 RT 1054.) Reginald had some milk and lay down. (5 RT 1054.) Appellant later found Reginald unresponsive. (5 RT 1056.) Appellant did not know what caused Reginald's death. He learned at trial that falling on Reginald could have caused his substantial injuries. (5 RT 1081.) As for his incriminating statements to the police, appellant testified he was persuaded to think that he hit Reginald harder than he believed. began "second-guessing" himself, and thought he may have caused Reginald's death by wrestling too hard with him. (5 RT 1103, 1106, 1119-1120, 1140.) Appellant said he "just kind of went along" with the investigating officers "because they knew, you know, basically what happened." (5 RT 1104.)

Several defense witnesses testified that appellant was happy when he found out that Reginald was his son and that he loved the child. (5 RT 922, 984, 998.) A defense expert testified that it was possible Reginald's injuries resulted from a single sharp blow to the back, such as a 170-pound man falling on him, but that it would be unlikely if the child were lying on a bed. (7 RT 1316, 1336.) The defense expert observed, "The liver has been forcibly squeezed to the point that it's just ruptured in various places" and

the chest was squeezed "to the point that the ribs are broken on both sides" (7 RT 1337-1338.)

On rebuttal, Sergeant James Rullamas contradicted appellant's version of his interview at the police station. Sergeant Rullamas never suggested the idea of toughening up his son; it was appellant who said he wanted to toughen up his son because he was acting like a baby. (7 RT 1468.) Sergeant Rullamas never told appellant he should make certain statements. (7 RT 1469.)

A jury convicted appellant of involuntary manslaughter and child abuse homicide. (2 CT 327.) The trial court sentenced him to 25 years to life for child abuse homicide and stayed sentence under Penal Code section 654 for the manslaughter. (2 CT 360.)

On appeal, appellant claimed the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for child abuse homicide. The Court of Appeal agreed and reversed the conviction. This Court granted respondent's petition for review and held that the evidence supported the jury's verdict of child abuse homicide. The Court reversed the judgment of the Court of Appeal and remanded for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. On remand, the Court of Appeal again reversed the conviction for child abuse homicide, holding that the trial court prejudicially erred in failing to instruct sua sponte on simple assault as a lesser included offense of child abuse homicide.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The prosecution presented evidence that appellant hit his child multiple times. The medical evidence confirmed that Reginald was hit hard. Appellant denied he did anything harmful to Reginald. He claimed he accidentally fell on his child.

The trial court had no sua sponte obligation to instruct the jury on simple assault as a lesser included offense to child abuse homicide. Under the facts presented to the jury, appellant either committed an aggravated

assault on Reginald which caused his death or Reginald died as a result of an unfortunate accident.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT AN INSTRUCTION ON SIMPLE ASSAULT BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE SHOWED EITHER AN AGGRAVATED ASSAULT CAUSING DEATH OR AN ACCIDENT

The prosecution presented evidence that appellant, by his own admission, wrestled with his 26-pound child, body slammed him four times, hit him in the chest with his fist 10 or 11 times, hit him in the chest with his forearm about three times, possibly suspended the child in midair by his neck, grabbed Reginald between his legs and squeezed, dropped his knee on Reginald's back twice, and did an "atomic elbow" to his head. Appellant admitted, "I was hittin' him pretty hard."

The medical evidence confirmed Reginald was hit hard. The prosecution's expert detailed at length Reginald's extensive injuries, including internal bleeding, four lacerations to the liver, acute fractures of four ribs, and cerebral swelling. The defense's own expert observed, "The liver has been forcibly squeezed to the point that it's just ruptured in various places" and the chest was squeezed 'to the point that the ribs are broken on both sides"

Appellant defended against the charge of child abuse homicide by denying that he did anything harmful to Reginald. He denied hitting Reginald even once and said he used only "make-believe wrestling moves" on Reginald. Appellant claimed he accidentally fell on Reginald.

The Court of Appeal held that the trial court prejudicially erred in failing to instruct sua sponte on simple assault as a lesser included offense of child abuse homicide. The Court of Appeal found that substantial evidence supported a simple assault instruction based on the testimony of appellant

and his medical expert, Dr. Herrmann. (Typed opn. at p. 21.) The court described appellant's testimony as follows:

Appellant never did any wrestling moves on his son. When he described to the police the wrestling moves he did on Reginald, it was all pretend wrestling he was talking about. He never struck Reginald hard, only pushed him while playing with him and doing "make-believe wrestling moves," such as off-the-top-rope, head butt, supplex, and an atomic elbow to the head. At one point, an accident occurred. Appellant had jumped in the air and was coming down on the bed to make it shake, when Reginald rolled toward him and appellant fell on Reginald, hitting Reginald in the back with his hip. It seemed like Reginald had the wind knocked out of him, like he could not get his breath. Then he started breathing again and appellant thought he was all right. Reginald did not cry. Other than falling on Reginald, appellant did not strike him with force or do anything harmful to him.

(Typed opn. at p. 13.)

The appellate court also recounted the testimony of the defense expert, Dr. Paul Herrmann. Dr. Hermann had reviewed Reginald's autopsy records and testified as an expert in the field of pathology. (Typed opn. at p. 17.) On direct examination, Dr. Hermann said that Reginald's injuries could have resulted from a single sharp blow to the back right side, like the weight of a 170-pound man falling on him. (*Ibid.*) Dr. Herrmann qualified his testimony on cross-examination.

On cross-examination, Dr. Herrmann said he believed the chances of Reginald being injured by a person falling on him on a bed would be much less than if the child were on the floor. It would be much less common for such extreme injuries to occur if the child was on a bed when someone fell on him. However, "it's still a likelihood or a possibility." The injuries here would be excessive to what Dr. Herrmann would expect if someone fell sideways onto the child on a bed, as compared to someone "falling free" onto the child. He did not have an opinion as to whether Reginald was physically abused.

(Typed opn. at p. 18.)

The Court of Appeal said: "This testimony, which we consider without evaluating the credibility of either appellant or Dr. Herrmann, is substantial enough to support a jury finding that appellant's actions fell short of those which a reasonable person might believe would lead to the application of force likely to "produce great bodily injury. The evidence is, however, enough to support a conviction under section 240." (Typed opn. at p. 23.) Explaining that it construed that testimony in the manner most favorable to appellant and only for "bare legal sufficiency" rather than for its weight, the Court of Appeal held that a jury might find from this testimony that the child's death was caused by the child rolling under appellant when the latter said he jumped on the bed and further find that this act amounted to simple assault. (Typed opn. at pp. 23-24.)

The Court of Appeal erred in finding that the trial court had an obligation to instruct on its own motion on simple assault as a lesser included offense of child abuse homicide. "[A] trial court errs if it fails to instruct, sua sponte, on all theories of a lesser included offense which find substantial support in the evidence. On the other hand, the court is not obliged to instruct on theories that have no such evidentiary support." (People v. Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 162.) "[T]he existence of 'any evidence, no matter how weak' will not justify instructions on a lesser included offense, but such instructions are required whenever evidence that the defendant is guilty only of the lesser offense is 'substantial enough to merit consideration' by the jury." (Ibid.) An instruction on a lesser included offense is required sua sponte whenever a jury composed of reasonable persons could conclude that the lesser, but not the greater, offense was committed. (Id. at pp. 162, 177.)

The crime of simple assault is defined in section 240 as "an unlawful attempt, coupled with a present ability, to commit a violent injury on the person of another." Although assault does not require a specific intent to

injure the victim, "a defendant guilty of assault must be aware of the facts that would lead a reasonable person to realize that a battery would directly, naturally and probably result from his conduct." (*People v. Williams* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 779, 788; see *People v. Wyatt, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 780.) A battery is "any willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another." (Pen. Code, § 242.)

Contrary to the Court of Appeal's decision, no reduced offense of simple assault can be teased from the defense in this case. That defense was straightforward. Appellant denied ever doing wrestling moves on his son, he denied hitting him, and he denied doing anything harmful to him. Appellant claimed he accidentally fell on Reginald. (Typed opn. at p. 13.) His expert thought the child's injuries from an accident possible, if unlikely. (Typed opn. at p. 18.) That evidence presented the jury with two choices on the charge of child abuse homicide. The jury either had to conclude that appellant committed an aggravated assault on Reginald which caused his death or else it had to conclude that Reginald died as a result of an unfortunate accident, whether from a fall or something else.

There was no basis for the jury to find from the evidence that appellant attempted to commit a violent injury on Reginald, while aware of facts that would lead a reasonable person to realize that a battery would probably result from his conduct, but did not do so "by means of force that to a reasonable person would be likely to produce great bodily injury . . . resulting in the child's death." (See *People v. Wyatt, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 780.) A parent who is playing with his child when an accident ensues does not engage in an unlawful attempt to commit a violent injury on the child. Nor does a reasonable person realize a battery will ensue from his own conduct in that circumstance, since the act causing injury, by definition, occurs accidentally.

Even if that defense evidence, in isolation, amounted to barely legally sufficient evidence of simple assault, as held by the Court of Appeal, that would not give rise to a sua sponte duty to instruct on that offense. The evidence in its totality has to be considered. Reginald's injuries were not just serious. They were "basically at the end of the bell curve." (3 RT 498.) Those injuries could only support a finding of aggravated assault and not simple assault. (See People v. Wyatt, supra, 48 Cal.4th at p. 785 ["the nature and extensiveness of [Reginald's] internal injuries provided sufficient evidence that defendant used an amount of force a reasonable person would believe was likely to result in great bodily injury on a young child"].) A jury composed of reasonable persons could not conclude that appellant committed simple assault on Reginald but not child abuse homicide. (People v. Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 162.) Consequently, the Court of Appeal erroneously concluded that the evidence was "enough to support a conviction under section 240." (Typed opn. at p. 23.) In these circumstances, a sua sponte instruction on simple assault was not required.

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