IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

REGINALD WYATT,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S189786

SUPREME COURT

JUN 24 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO Case No. A114612

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ALAMEDA COUNTY Case No. C0147107 The Honorable Jon Rolefson, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WALDEMAR D. HALKA
Attorney at Law
State Bar No. 137915
P.O. Box 99965
San Diego, CA 92169
Tel/Fax: (858) 273-8626
e-mail: halkalaw@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant Reginald Wyatt

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

As previously noted, in *Breverman*, this Court replaced the "near automatic reversal" standard for failure to instruct on lesser included offenses with the *Watson* test for determining prejudicial error. (*People v. Breverman*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 149.) Under *Watson*, the reviewing court conducts an "examination of the entire cause, including the evidence," and reversal is required when "it appears 'reasonably probable' the defendant would have achieved a more favorable result had the error not occurred." (*Id.* at pp. 149, 176.)

The focus of the *Watson* test is on what a reasonable jury "is *likely* to have done in the absence of the error" (*Id.* at pp. 177-178). In this context, a "reasonable probability" is a "reasonable chance" that the outcome would have been more favorable to the defendant. (*People v. Blakeley, supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 99.) The appellate court does not act as a *defacto* jury and determine for itself guilt or innocence. (*People v. Dail, supra*, 22 Cal.2d at p. 659.)

While each case must be decided on its own facts, there are fundamental principles that guide the inquiry and determination. "There is a reasonable probability of a more favorable result within the meaning of *Watson* when there exists 'at least such an equal balance of reasonable probabilities as to leave the court in serious

doubt as to whether the error affected the result." (*People v. Mower* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 457, 484.) There is prejudice under *Watson* when the jury "might have entertained a reasonable doubt in [defendant's] favor" (*id.* At 484-485), especially when the jury has been given an improper all-or-nothing choice. "Where one of the elements of the offense charged remains in doubt, but the defendant is plainly guilty of some offense, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of conviction." (*People v. Ramkeesoon, supra*, 39 Cal.3d at p. 351 [citation omitted].) "An error that impairs the jury's determination of an issue that is both critical and closely balanced will rarely be harmless." (*People v. McDonald* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 351, 376.)

While establishment of lesser included offense jury instruction error may not automatically establish prejudice under the *Watson* test, the error itself weighs heavily in favor of a finding of prejudice because the error establishes that a reasonable jury could have convicted solely of the lesser included offense. Further, the fact that the defendant was deprived of a jury decision on the lesser included offense question weighs heavily in favor of reversal because this not only implicates the defendant jury trial rights under the California Constitution but jury trial rights under the United States Constitution. The underlying premise for the near automatic reversal standard was that the erroneous failure to instruct constituted a denial of the right to have the jury determine each material issue presented by the evidence. (See *e.g. People v. Ray* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 20, 31-32; *People v. Mayberry* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 143, 157, 158.) Because this right to

have the jury determine all material issues presented by the evidence did not simply disappear with the change of standards for determining prejudice (see *People v. Miller, supra*, 57 Cal.2d at pp. 828-829; 2 CT 286-287 [CALCRIM No. 200 (Duties of Judge and Jury)]), the fact that the jury was foreclosed from determining whether the evidence demonstrated that the defendant was guilty only of the lesser included offense is a factor to consider under the *Watson* test.

Other factors for consideration under *Watson* include, but are not limited to, (1) whether evidence is overwhelmingly against the defendant on the issue under review (*People v. St. Martin* (1970) 1 Cal.3d 524, 532) or is sharply conflicting (*People v. Dail, supra*, 22 Cal.2d at pp. 650, 659) or is equally balanced (*People v. Dewberry* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 548, 557-558); (2) the nature of the testimony (*People v. Garcia* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 539, 557 [direct or equivocal testimony]; *People v. Greer* (1947) 30 Cal.2d 589, 596-597 [no direct evidence]); (3) the relative strength or weakness of the prosecution's evidence (*People v. Breverman, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 177-178; *People v. McDonald, supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 376) and defense evidence (*People v. McDonald, supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 376); and (4) the existence of evidence tending to raise a reasonable doubt the defendant committed the charged offense (*People v. Rios, supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 466, fn. 12).

In addition to considering the actual evidence, how the error may have affected the jury's view of that evidence must be considered. A reviewing court must assume the jury, had it been given proper instructions, might have drawn different inferences more favorable to the defendant and rendered a verdict in his favor on those issues. (*Logacz v. Limansky* (1999) 71 Cal.4th 1149, 1155-1156.)

All of the above factors support the Court of Appeal's reasonable and correct judgment that reversal is required under the *Watson* test. The conflicting evidence and the jury's general verdict precludes a finding that the child assault homicide was based on blunt force trauma other than defendant's jumping and landing on his son. The prosecution's case that defendant hit, struck and body-slammed his son while actually wrestling with him is weak, circumstantial, conflicting and dependent upon conflicting extrajudicial statements made by defendant, who explained those statements, with the jury acquitting defendant of murder. For purposes of *Watson* analysis, there can be no harmless error finding based on the ground that the "assault" which the jury found to support the child assault homicide conviction was not defendant's sole act of jumping up and landing on his son.

On the question of whether the evidence of such assault was, as a matter of law, only an assault "by means of force that to a reasonable person would be likely to produce great bodily injury" (Pen. Code, § 273ab) so that it can reasonably be found that the jury could lawfully be placed in the all-or-nothing verdict choice, no such evidence exists. The evidence based on defendant's testimony, which the jury had the right to believe, was that he had jumped on the bed before with Reginald on it while playing with Reginald without

incident. The jury would reasonably conclude that under these circumstances, and the circumstances described by defendant that resulted in his landing on his son and causing injuries that resulted in death, that the evidence was wholly insufficient to support a finding that an assault by means of force that to a reasonable person would be likely to produce great bodily injury *in fact* occurred or, alternatively, that reasonable doubt existed as to the crime of child assault homicide.

The Court of Appeal correctly applied the *Watson* test and reached the only reasonable conclusion possible – absent the error there was a reasonable chance the jury would have convicted defendant of simple assault if given the opportunity.

III

THE PEOPLE'S HARMLESS ERROR CONTENTIONS OF NO IMPROPER ALL-ORNOTHING VERDICT CHOICE AND FACTUAL ISSUES NECESSARILY RESOLVED AGAINST DEFENDANT ARE UNSUPPORTED BY LAW AND EVIDENCE.

The People's primary claim of harmless error rests on one theory – defendant was properly convicted of involuntary manslaughter – stated in two different ways. First, the jury in finding defendant guilty of involuntary manslaughter necessarily decided the factual questions posed by the omitted lesser included offense assault instruction against the defendant. (ROBM, p. 11.) Second, because

the jury found defendant guilty of involuntary manslaughter as a lesser included offense of the charged murder, there was no improper all-or-nothing choice for the charged child assault homicide. (ROBM, pp. 11-12.) Both contentions lack merit.⁵

A. THE IMPROPER AND UNLAWFUL ALL-OR-NOTHING VERDICT CHOICE FOR CHILD ASSAULT HOMICIDE.

The crime of involuntary manslaughter is not a lesser included offense of child assault homicide. (*People v. Stewart, supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 796; *Orlina v. Superior Court, supra*, 73 Cal.App.4th at p. 262.) The Court of Appeal reached the same conclusion. (Opn., pp. 26-28.) Absent the required simple assault lesser included offense instruction, the jury was improperly forced into making an all-or-nothing verdict choice of either convicting defendant of the charged offense or acquitting him when the jury knew that defendant's act of jumping and landing on his son caused

because there was no evidence that defendant committed only simple assault, this claim merely repeats the People's argument that no error occurred. (ROBM, p. 12.) Further, the claim must be rejected because it merely repeats the meritless argument which the Court of Appeal correctly rejected (Opn., p. 24), because it is premised on the inapplicable insufficiency of evidence standard (ROBM, p. 11), i.e. the facts are construed in the light most favorable to the People, instead of the correct test of construing the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant and the omitted instruction. This claim, therefore, must be rejected for the reasons previously stated in Argument I, *ante*.

death. Under these circumstances, a jury would feel compelled to convict in order to avoid acquittal of assault-death-causing conduct.

The People's argument that the jury's involuntary manslaughter conviction prevents a finding of improper all-or-nothing verdict choice is not supported by law, logic, evidence or the jury instructions actually received by the jury.

The jury was expressly instructed that each count must be decided separately. (2 CT 316 [CALCRIM No. 3515].) The People's multiple-count-cross-over argument – in which there is an attempt to use a lesser included offense for one count (the murder count) to argue non-prejudicial error as to an entirely separate and distinct second count (the child assault homicide count) for which no lesser included offenses were given to the jury – improperly attempts to transform involuntary manslaughter into a lesser included offense of child assault homicide.

Further, and more importantly, the People's contention is based on the unwarranted and unreasonable assumption that the jury violated their oaths and the CALCRIM No. 3515 instruction and considered the two counts jointly.

Instead of tending to establish harmless error, the People's argument only highlights the prejudice caused by the failure to instruct on assault as a lesser included offense of child assault homicide. The giving of lesser included offense instructions for one charge/count and omission of any lesser included offense instructions for a second charge/count could only signal to the jury that as to the

latter offense it is all-or-nothing.

In addition to ignoring the jury instructions which the jury was required to follow and is presumed on appeal to have followed absent evidence to the contrary (People v. Guerra (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1067, 1148; *People v. Harris* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 407, 426), the People's contention ignores the facts. The jury returned a general verdict finding defendant guilty of involuntary manslaughter and it was bound only by the evidence and involuntary manslaughter instruction (see 2 CT 310-312 [CALCRIM No. 580 (Involuntary Manslaughter)]), not theories presented by the parties. Based on defendant's testimony, in which he basically admitted he was negligent in not taking his son to get checked out after falling on him, and the medical evidence that Reginald bled to death probably within an hour of receiving the injuries, the jury's involuntary manslaughter conviction could be based on defendant's omission, i.e. "a lawful act," instead of the "assault" that initially produced those injuries. (See 2 CT 310-312 [CALCRIM 580 (Involuntary Manslaughter)]. Of course, based on the jury's general verdicts, there is no way of knowing what the jury actually relied on or decided. (People v. Ramkeesoon, supra, 39 Cal.3d at p. 352, fn. 2.)

Consequently, the jury's involuntary manslaughter conviction may be wholly and reasonably factually distinct and separate from the child assault homicide conviction. Most certainly, the involuntary manslaughter conviction is not inconsistent with a finding that, as applied to the child assault homicide count, the evidence proved only

a simple assault.

This Court should construe the facts and verdicts in keeping with the jurors' oaths that they would follow the law as given by the trial court and decide the murder/lesser included offense count and child assault homicide/non-included offense count separately, without any cross-over consideration of involuntary manslaughter in the determination of the child assault homicide count.

B. THE INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER
VERDICT DID NOT NECESSARILY DECIDE
ANY FACTUAL QUESTION POSED BY THE
OMITTED LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE
ASSAULT INSTRUCTION.

If the jury *in fact* found defendant guilty of involuntary manslaughter based on his subsequent failure to timely have his son checked out after falling on him then, of course, the jury's involuntary manslaughter guilty verdict did not decide any factual or, for that matter, legal question involving the child assault homicide count, yet alone the question of whether the "assault" (Pen. Code, § 240) based on jumping on the bed was only a simple assault or only an assault "by means of force that to a reasonable person would be likely to produce great bodily injury." (Pen. Code, § 273ab.)

Moreover, even if it may be speculated that the jury premised its involuntary manslaughter conviction based on the "assault" created by defendant's jumping on the bed, there can be no finding that in convicting defendant of involuntary manslaughter the jury necessarily decided that this "assault" was "by means of force that to

a reasonable person would be likely to produce great bodily injury," instead of only a simple assault.

Under both *Stewart* and *Orlina* (*People v. Stewart*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th 785; *Orlina v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 73 Cal.App.4th 258), as well as the Court of Appeal's finding (Opn., pp. 27-28), involuntary manslaughter is a lesser-related offense and may be committed without the jury ever making any factual finding necessary for a child assault conviction. The only conclusion relating to the involuntary manslaughter conviction is that the jury determined the act or omission was done "without intent to kill and without conscious disregard of the risk to human life" (2 CT 310-312). (*People v. Sheldon* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 935, 961-962.)

Consequently, there can be no finding that the factual question posed by the omitted assault lesser included offense instruction was necessarily resolved adversely to the defendant under other, properly given instructions, or the jury's involuntary manslaughter verdict. (*People v. Ramkeesoon, supra*, 39 Cal.3d at pp. 351-352; *People v. Wickersham, supra*, 32 Cal.3d at p. 336; *People v. Sheldon, supra*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 961-962.)

While an assault may be the basis for an involuntary manslaughter conviction, the evidence need only establish "that such misdemeanor was dangerous to human life or safety under the circumstances of its commission." (*People v. Cox, supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 675.) A finding that an assault may be dangerous to human life or safety under the circumstances of its commission for purposes of

involuntary manslaughter does not require, as mandated by Penal Code Section 273ab, any factual inquiry or legal finding that the assault is "by means of force that to a reasonable person would be likely to produce great bodily injury."

Moreover, based on the involuntary manslaughter instruction actually given to the jury, it does not appear the jury would even consider any assault as a means of establishing involuntary manslaughter because the instruction is limited to "a lawful act." (2 CT 310-312.)

Finally, the involuntary manslaughter instruction specifically directed the jury to not make any factual findings relating to other "other homicide offenses" because involuntary manslaughter was different than those homicides. (2 CT 310-312.) Whether the jury considered the jury instruction's reference to "other homicide offenses" as limited to murder-homicide or included child assault homicide is unknown, but this statement is consistent with the specific instruction that all counts must be decided separately. (2 CT 316.)

In conclusion, the People's attempt to use the adverse-finding harmless error doctrine to, in effect, transform the involuntary manslaughter conviction into a conviction of child assault homicide must therefore be rejected.

CONCLUSION

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